Case No.: S 207173

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE, SUPREME COURT

Petitioner,

vs.

MAR 1 4 2013

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF TUOLUMNE,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Respondent,

Deputy

WAL-MART STORES, INC., JAMES GRINNELL, AND THE CITY OF SONORA,

Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F063849

Hon. James A. Boscoe, Superior Court Judge Superior Court of the State of California, County of Tuolumne Case No. CV56309

## REAL PARTY IN INTEREST WAL-MART STORES, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edward P. Sangster (SBN 121041)

#### INTRODUCTION

This case arises from the exercise of the reserved constitutional power of initiative under article II, section 11 of the California Constitution. Since its inception more than 100 years ago, the right of initiative has included the right to propose laws for immediate adoption by local legislative bodies, and barring adoption, to have those proposed laws promptly considered by voters in an election.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal in this matter, *Tuolumne Jobs* & Small Business Alliance v. Superior Court (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1006, review granted February 13, 2013, S207173 ("Tuolumne"), judicially stripped local voters of part of that fundamental right – the right to propose laws for immediate adoption that might affect the environment. The Court of Appeal reached this unprecedented and remarkable result by judicially transforming a local government's decision to adopt an initiative into a "discretionary" act that had never been subject to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code sections 21000-21177) ("CEQA"). Because, as the Court of Appeal recognized, it is not possible to comply with both CEQA and provisions of the Elections Code governing voter initiatives, the Court of Appeal acknowledged that its holding would preclude cities from directly adopting voter initiatives that affect the environment. In doing so, the Court created a judicially legislated barrier to the electoral process that was never intended or sanctioned by the Legislature.

The *Tuolumne* decision must be reversed because the plain and clear meaning of the statutes governing the initiative process in California must not be overridden by anything other than a Legsilative act. The Court of Appeal erred in numerous, material respects. First, this Court previously held in *DeVita v. County of Napa* ("*DeVita*") (1993) 9 Cal.4th 763 that "procedural requirements" like CEQA are not applicable to the people when exercising their initiative power. *Id.* at p. 787.

Second, CEQA only applies to "discretionary" projects, and the Court of Appeal departed from precedent holding that the decision of a local government to adopt an initiative without alteration, or submit it to a vote, is mandatory and ministerial, not discretionary. The Court of Appeal failed to follow Supreme Court and other appellate court precedent characterizing "discretionary" decisions as those empowering a local government to deny or shape a project to mitigate environmental harm.

Not only is *Tuolumne* contrary to precedent, it is ungrounded in legislative history and intent, and untethered to well established principles of statutory construction. The Legislature has, since 1911, facilitated the people's right of initiative by permitting local governments immediately to adopt initiatives without alteration. The Legislature has never manifested an intent to apply CEQA to the decisions of local governments whether to adopt voter initiatives. On the contrary, it has repeatedly *rejected* bills to apply CEQA to local initiatives.

In addition to its numerous errors, the decision in *Tuolumne* is internally inconsistent. It is premised on the unsupportable proposition

that the Legislature intended to require a time-consuming environmental review of initiatives that would be "meaningless"—meaningless because a local government could never alter an initiative, regardless of what its environmental study revealed. Furthermore, *Tuolumne* holds that initiatives are subject to CEQA, even though a city could *never* comply with CEQA when presented with an initiative.

Finally, even if the *Tuolumne* Court correctly divined and applied a legislative intention to apply CEQA to the local initiative process, the decision must be reversed. The people reserved unto themselves the right of initiative, while delegating only limited powers over the initiative process to the Legislature. The Constitution circumscribes the Legislature's powers over the initiative process to enacting procedures to facilitate the right of initiative. The Legislature may in no way limit or restrict that right. Because the right of initiative has always included the right to have initiatives directly adopted by local legislative bodies, construing CEQA to foreclose the right of direct legislative adoption would impermissibly burden the right of initiative in violation of the California Constitution.

For the reasons discussed below, this Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal, and hold that CEQA does not apply to a local government when enacting a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to the Elections Code.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the First Amended Petition, Sonora prepared a draft environmental impact report ("EIR") for the expansion of an existing Walmart store (the "Store Expansion"), circulated it for public comment, and received comments. (Appellate Writ Petition, exh. 2, p. 10.) On

June 23, 2010, the Sonora Planning Commission held a public hearing to consider the EIR. The Planning Commission issued a report to the City Council recommending that the City Council certify the EIR and approve the Store Expansion. (*Id.* at para. 11.)

Shortly thereafter, Mr. James Grinnell served a notice of intent to circulate a petition to qualify a voter initiative that would add an ordinance creating a "Specific Plan." (Appellate Writ Petition, exh 2, para. 14.) If adopted, the Specific Plan would permit the Store Expansion, as well as other uses of the property. [Id. at exh. 4.]

During a period lasting less than a month,<sup>2</sup> more than 20% of the registered voters in the City of Sonora<sup>3</sup> signed Mr. Grinnell's petition. The City opted to proceed pursuant to Elections Code section 9214, subdivision (c), and it ordered preparation of a report concerning the Initiative. (Appellate Writ Petition, exh. 2, p. 4.) Rather than ordering a special election, the Sonora City Council adopted the Initiative as an ordinance (the "Ordinance"). (*Id.* at p. 13, para. 27.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By way of example, permitted uses other than an expanded Walmart store included "Business, professional and trade schools and colleges," "Live/work use," and "Medical, dental and orthopedic clinics or laboratories." (Appellate Writ Petition, exh. 4, pp. 82-83) (table of permitted property uses.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> According to facts alleged in the First Amended Petition, Real Party in Interest James Grinnell served the City with a notice of intent to circulate an initiative petition on June 28, 2010. (Writ Petition, exh. 2, p. 10, para. 14.) The City issued a Title and Summary on July 12, after which collections of signatures could begin. (*Ibid.*) The initiative petition was filed on or about August 9, 2010. (*Ibid.*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appellate Writ Petition, exh. 3 at 40:6-9.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner filed an action on January 10, 2011, in which it sought traditional and administrative mandamus to invalidate the Ordinance. (Appellate Writ Petition, p. 8, para. 14.) The Petitioner named the City of Sonora as Respondent, and both Walmart and Grinnell, the proponent of the initiative petition, as Real Parties in Interest. The City and Walmart demurred to the Petition.

In response, the Petitioner filed a First Amended Petition on April 27, 2011, prior to a hearing on the Demurrers. (Appellate Writ Petition, p. 8, para. 14.) The Petitioner alleged four causes of action in its First Amended Petition, each of which challenged the Ordinance under a different legal theory. Petitioner's First Cause of Action, which is the only one at issue in this proceeding, alleged that the Ordinance violated CEQA because Sonora had not certified an EIR prior to adopting the voter initiative as an ordinance.

The City, Walmart and Mr. Grinnell all demurred to the First Amended Petition. On October 14, 2011, the trial court issued an Order sustaining the demurrer to the First Cause of Action without leave to amend. (Appellate Writ Petition, exh. 1.)

Petitioner filed the Appellate Writ Petition on December 13, 2011. On January 31, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued an alternative writ and order to show cause why the relief prayed for should not be granted. Walmart and the City filed their Returns to the Alternative Writ and Oppositions to the Order to Show Cause on March 1, 2012.

The Court of Appeal filed its decision on October 30, 2012. In the published portion of its decision, the Court of Appeal held that the decision by a city to adopt a voter-sponsored initiative is discretionary.

Therefore, the City could not adopt a voter-sponsored initiative without first complying with CEQA. *Tuolumne*, *supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1024-1025, 1032-1033; Court of Appeal opinion ("Opinion") at pp. 17, 28.

A petition for rehearing was not filed. Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504, subd. (b)(3).

Grinnell and Walmart filed Petitions for Review on December 7, 2012. The City filed its Petition for Review on December 10, 2012, in which it joined in the petitions filed by Grinnell and Walmart. This Court issued an order granting the petitions for review on February 13, 2013.

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Must a city comply with CEQA before enacting a voter-sponsored initiative pursuant to Elections Code section 9214, subdivision (a)?
- 2. Is enactment of a voter-sponsored initiative "without alteration" pursuant to Elections Code section 9214 "ministerial," and, therefore, exempt from CEQA?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court independently reviews issues decided by appellate courts. This Court has noted, "[w]e have no need to defer [to the appellate court], because we can ourselves conduct the same analysis. In fact, we have need *not* to defer, in order to be free to further the uniform articulation and application of the law within our jurisdiction." *Smiley v. Citibank* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 138, 146.

The standard of appellate review of an order sustaining a demurrer is well established.

The reviewing court gives the complaint a reasonable interpretation, and treats the demurrer as admitting all material facts properly pleaded. The court does not, however, assume the truth of contentions, deductions or conclusions of law. The judgment must be affirmed if any one of the several grounds of demurrer is well taken. However, it is error for a trial court to sustain a demurrer when the plaintiff has stated a cause of action under any possible legal theory. And it is an abuse of discretion to sustain a demurrer without leave to amend if the plaintiff shows there is a reasonable possibility any defect identified by the defendant can be cured by amendment.

Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966–967, internal citations omitted; see also, Moore v. Regents of University of California (1990) 51 Cal.3d 120, 125.

#### **BACKGROUND**

# A. Amendment of the Constitution, and Subsequent Legislative Enactments: Empowering the Electorate with the Right of Initiative

The Legislative history shows that the Legislature repeatedly considered – and rejected – attempts to apply CEQA to the initiative process. This included rejecting attempts to apply CEQA to the specific context here – the direct adoption of voter initiatives by a local municipality. Instead of applying CEQA, the Legislature adopted a compromise that permitted an abbreviated environmental review of voter initiatives within the requisite time constraints.

The constitutional amendment and related legislation implementing the electorate's right of initiative, referendum and recall arose from rampant corruption in state and local government during the 19th and early 20th centuries. After several high-profile corruption and bribery trials in the early 1900s, California voters elected as governor the progressive candidate Hiram Johnson, who had run on a campaign of

reform. Center for Governmental Studies, *Democracy by Initiative:* Shaping California's Fourth Branch of Government (2d ed. 2008) pp. 3-4. ("Democracy by Initiative").

In 1911, California voters approved Governor Johnson's package of reforms by amending the California constitution to empower direct democracy. (*Democracy by Initiative, supra,* at pp. 3-4.) This included the enactment of article IV of the Constitution, which reserved to the electorate the right of initiative.

Article IV, section 1 provided, in pertinent part,

The legislative power of this state shall be vested in a senate and assembly which shall be designated 'The legislature of the State of California,' but the people reserve to themselves the power to propose laws and amendments to the constitution, and to adopt or reject the same, at the polls independent of the legislature ... <sup>4</sup>

The 1911 constitutional amendment defined the people's first reserved right of legislation as the "initiative." The electorate could propose statewide laws by submitting the required number of signatures, at which point "[t]he law proposed by such petition shall be either enacted or rejected without change or amendment by the legislature ...." Laws rejected by the Legislature, or upon which the Legislature failed to act, were required to be submitted to the voters for approval or rejection at the next general election, or at the discretion of the governor, at a special election.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ballot Pamp., Spec. Elec. (Oct. 10, 1911) text of Prop. 7, Senate Const. Amendment No. 22, p.1, available at: http://library.uchastings.edu/research/online-research/ballots.php <sup>5</sup> Ballot Pamp., *supra*, at p. 1.

The 1911 constitutional amendment further reserved the initiative power to enact local laws to the electors of each county, city, and town<sup>6</sup> "to be exercised under such procedure as may be provided by law."<sup>7</sup> While granting the legislature the power to legislate "procedures," the amendment explicitly prohibited the legislature or local governments from enacting procedures that would limit or restrict the right of initiative: "This section is self-executing, but legislation may be enacted to facilitate its operation, but in no way limiting or restricting either the provisions of this section or the powers reserved."<sup>8</sup> Thus, the legislative "procedures" authorized by the constitutional amendment are procedures "to facilitate the exercise of that right." Associated Home Builders of the Greater East Bay, Inc. v. City of Livermore ("Associated Home Builders") (1976) 18 Cal.3d 582, 591, emphasis added.

The Legislature promptly enacted procedures to implement the constitutional amendment relating to local initiatives. The Legislature facilitated the right of local initiative by adopting the same, forced choice imposed upon the legislature when presented with a statewide initiative. When a proponent presented a local government with an initiative, the city had only two options: (1) pass the initiative within ten days without alteration; or (2) call a special election "forthwith." Stats. 1911, Ex. Sess., ch. 33, § 1, pp. 131-132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> By its terms, the constitutional amendment did not affect or limit the powers of charter cities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ballot Pamp., supra, at p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ballot Pamp., *supra*, at p. 1.

The constitutional provisions relating to initiatives have been modified several times since their enactment in 1911. The most significant of these amendments occurred in 1966. Among other things, the 1966 amendment deleted the Legislature's option to adopt statewide initiatives as law. <sup>9</sup> The amendment also deleted the clauses explicitly barring the Legislature from restricting the reserved power of local initiative. As this Court has recognized, "[t]he 1966 constitutional revision was intended solely to shorten and simplify the Constitution, deleting unnecessary provisions; it did not enact any substantive change in the power of the Legislature and the people." Associated Home Builders, supra, 18 Cal.3d at p.595, fn. 12. Furthermore, this Court recognized that the deletion of language barring the Legislature from restricting the reserved power of local initiative was being done "solely on the ground that it was surplusage, and that the deletion would be made 'without, in the end result, changing the meaning of the provisions.' (Cal. Const. Revision Com. (1966) Proposed Revision of the Cal. Const., pp. 49-50.)" Associated Home Builders at p.595, fn. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The provision permitting the Legislature to adopt statewide initiatives was rarely used, and the voters abolished the statewide procedure as part of the 1966 amendments. Sen. Com. on Elections, Reapportionment and Constitutional Amendments, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. SCA 16 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) July 7, 2009, available at <a href="http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/sen/sb">http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/sen/sb</a> 0001-0050/sca 16 cfa 20090706 095802 sen comm.html. One author opined that the so-called indirect initiative was rarely used because, prior to 1967, the Legislature was a part-time legislature, meeting for six months in odd-numbered years. Indirect initiatives therefore required substantial lead times. Stern, *California Should Return to the Indirect Initiative*, 44 Loyola L.A. L.Rev. 671.

The people's reserved right of initiative is now contained in article II of the Constitution. Article II, section 8(a) defines the power of initiative: "The initiative is the power of the electors to propose statutes and amendments to the Constitution and to adopt or reject them." Section 11(a) empowers the electors of cities and counties to exercise the right of initiative: "Initiative and referendum powers may be exercised by the electors of each city or county under procedures that the Legislature shall provide."

As discussed below, the procedures adopted by the Legislature to facilitate the right of local initiative are now contained in Elections Code sections 9214 and 9215. <sup>10</sup> Elections Code sections 9214 and 9215 continue to impose the same, forced choice on local governments that has existed since 1911: they must promptly enact initiatives, without alteration, or they must submit the initiatives to votes of the people.

#### B. The Enactment of CEQA

In 1970, approximately sixty years after the creation of California's direct democracy, the Legislature enacted CEQA. CEQA's basic goal of protecting the environment has two broad purposes:

(1) Avoiding, reducing, or preventing environmental damage when possible by requiring alternatives or mitigation measures (14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Elections Code section 9214 applies when at least 15% of the registered voters sign an initiative petition. It requires that the city adopt the initiative without alteration or present it for decision by voters at a special election. Elections Code section 9215 applies when at least 10%, but less than 15%, of the voters sign the petition. In that case, the city must adopt the initiative without alteration or place it on the ballot at the next regularly scheduled municipal election, unless for some other reason a special election is required. Different minimum thresholds for signatures apply in cities with less than 1,000 voters.

California Code of Regulations section 15002, subdivision (a)(2)-(3).); and

(2) Providing information to decision-makers and the public concerning the environmental effects of proposed and approved activities (14 California Code of Regulations section 15002, subdivision (a)(1).)

Kostka & Zischke, *Practice Under the California Environmental Quality Act* (2d ed. March 2012) § 1.16.

CEQA therefore mandates that public agencies require feasible mitigation measures to minimize environmental damage. Public Resources Code section 21002.1, subdivision (b) states, "[e]ach public agency shall mitigate or avoid the significant effects on the environment of projects that it carries out or approves whenever it is feasible to do so."

CEQA also requires preparation of an EIR, the purpose of which "is to inform the public and its responsible officials of the environmental consequences of their decisions before they are made." Pub. Res. Code § 21002.1, subd. (b). After preparing an EIR, CEQA then requires the city to "find either that the project's significant environmental effects identified in the EIR have been avoided or mitigated, or that unmitigated effects are outweighed by the project's benefits." *Laurel Heights Improvement Assoc. v. Regents of the University of California* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 391.

#### C. Associated Home Builders

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