IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

S207173

TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE,

Petitioner,

VS.

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 6 2013

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF TUOLUMNE

Respondent,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy CRC (8.25(b)

WALMART STORES, INC., JAMES GRINNELL, AND THE CITY OF SONORA

Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F063849

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER TUOLUMNE JOBS & SMALL BUSINESS ALLIANCE

BRETT S. JOLLEY – SBN: 210072
HERUM CRABTREE
5757 Pacific Avenue, Suite 222
Stockton, CA 95207
Telephone: (209) 472-7700
Facsimile: (209) 472-7986

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

V. ARGUMENT

In reversing the trial court's order sustaining demurrer, the Court of Appeal held that "a lead agency is not permitted to skip CEQA review when it chooses, under Elections Code section 9214, subdivision (a), to approve a project submitted to it via voter petition instead of holding an

election under Elections Code section 9214, subdivision (b)." Slip Op. at 17. Thus, a voter sponsored initiative that is not submitted to the vote of the people is not exempt from CEQA review. Id.

Real Parties urge the Court to overturn the Appellate Court and instead to conclude that the City Council's decision to adopt the Initiative is exempt from CEQA. TJSBA agrees.

A. The Appellate Court's Holding that Adopting an Initiative in Lieu of Holding an Election is Not Subject to a Ministerial Exemption from CEQA is Sound and Should be Affirmed.

The subtext of the debate in this matter is whether, in light of the split of authority created by the Appellate Court's opinion and that in *Native American Sacred Site*, should the statewide rule be one exempting initiatives adopted without election from CEQA, or should the rule be more refined to harmonize the competing strong public policy consideration inherent in elections law and environmental law as expressed by the Court of Appeal in the matter below? TJSBA submits that the Appellate Court's approach is well reasoned and better harmonizes the competing legislative schemes than does the *Native American Sacred Site* rule.

² This holding coheres with the plain language of CEQA Guidelines §15378(b), which provides that the term "project" excludes "[t]he *submittal* of proposals to a vote of the people of the state or of a particular community that does not involve a public agency sponsored initiative." (Emphasis added).

In *Native American Sacred Site*, a private high school wanted to develop a parcel for recreational facilities. It collected signatures on a petition in support of an initiative to rezone the property and amend the general plan. *Native American Sacred Site* at 964. After the registrar of voters certified the petition had valid signatures of more than 15 percent of the city's registered voters, the city council acted pursuant to Elections Code section 9214 to adopt the initiative as an ordinance instead of submitting the initiative to the voters in a special election. *Id.* at 964-65. The plaintiffs filed a petition for writ of mandate in the superior court, arguing the city was required to complete CEQA review before adopting the initiative. The trial court sustained the demurrer, and on appeal the Fourth District affirmed. *Id.* at 965.

The Fourth District stated the approval was exempt from CEQA under Public Resources Code section 21080, subdivision (b)(1), because "[a] city's duty to adopt a qualified voter-sponsored initiative, or place it on the ballot, is ministerial and mandatory." *Id.* at 966. Public Resources Code section 21080(b)(1) provides that CEQA does not apply to "ministerial projects proposed to be carried out or approved by public agencies."

As the Fifth District countered below, however, "[a]lthough the duty to adopt the initiative *or* hold a special election certainly is mandatory under Elections Code section 9214 – the statute says the city council "shall"

do one or the other – the *choice between the two* is entirely discretionary." Slip Op. at 17. That "choice," as the Court of Appeal notes, is not insignificant because it means "the difference between giving the voters the opportunity to exercise their franchise and withholding that opportunity..."

Id. And, because the choice itself is discretionary (whereas the duty to make the choice is ministerial), it is subject to CEQA review in the event a public agency chooses to forego an election. Id. at 18.

Real Parties also suggest that a City does not exercise discretion in adopting a land use initiative as its own and therefore such action is not exempt from CEQA. Yet despite Respondents' arguments against, the Appellate Court articulately and appropriately holds a city council's decision to adopt a land use initiative otherwise subject to CEQA is exempt as a "ministerial" application.

CEQA Guideline §15369 provides, "A ministerial decision involves only the use of fixed standards or objective measurements, and the public official cannot use personal, subjective judgment is deciding whether or how the project should be carried out." CEQA Guideline §15369

The Court of Appeal further distinguished the cases relied upon by the *Native American Sacred Site* court in reaching a contrary conclusion. Slip Op. at 18. Unlike here, in each of them "the legislative body failed to take any appropriate action in response to a certified initiative petition presented on behalf of the voters; it neither called an election nor adopted the initiative." *Id.* The courts in those cases merely ordered the agencies to place the initiatives on the ballot to remedy their inaction. *Id.*

(emphasis added). Critical here – the Sonora City Council rather than the electorate made the ultimate decision to carry out the Initiative.

"A city council's decision about whether to approve a development project or instead to let the voters make the decision is not 'ministerial' under this definition...It is a policy decision supported on the one side by many considerations relevant to whether the project is good for the community and on the other side by all the reasons why it might be desirable for the voters to be able to make the decision for themselves. It also involves a weighing of the costs of holding an election against its benefits. Even real party in interest Grinnell recognizes, in his informal response, (albeit in another context), that the council's decision whether to adopt the initiative or hold an election is 'political.'"...The role of all these considerations shows that the decision was not ministerial." Id. at p. 16. The Opinion continues, "The definition in Guidelines section 15369 specifies that an action is ministerial if public official cannot use discretion or judgment in deciding whether or how the project should be carried out.' Here, the city council did decide that the project should be carried out, and in so doing used its discretion and political judgment in concluding that the decision about whether it should be carried out or not should be left to the electorate." Id. (emphasis in original).

Thus, the elected officials rather than the electorate made the final decision to carry out the project by approving the Initiative and, as such,

that decision is not exempt from CEQA. And nothing in that reasoning conflicts the purpose and intent of CEQA or the initiative process.

B. Holding CEQA Applies Where No Election Occurs Appropriately Harmonizes two Competing Legislative Schemes and Promotes Rather Than Frustrates Reserved Rights of Initiative.

Real Parties suggest that requiring CEQA compliance where the legislative body enacts the initiative in lieu of an election somehow deprives the people of the reserved power of initiative. To the contrary, the Appellate Court's holding merely provides that where a city council decides to adopt a voter-sponsored initiative as its own rather than allow the electorate to make the decision, the city cannot absolve itself of complying with CEQA. As the opinion explains, this conforms to this Court's opinion in Friends of Sierra Madre v. City of Sierra Madre (2001) 25 Cal.4th 165 (which held the submission to the electors of a voter-generated initiative is exempt from CEQA but the submission of a city-generated initiative is not) and noted "even if an election is held [following a city council placing an initiative on the ballot] and a majority of voters expresses its will to let a project go forward, CEQA review is still required if it was the city council that chose to put the initiative on the ballot." Thus reasoned the Appellate Court, "It is even clearer that CEQA applies when a mere 15 percent of the voters has expressed support of the initiative and the city council chooses to approve the project without an election." Slip Op at 13.

Indeed CEQA compliance in this circumstance does not hinder the reserved right of initiative at all. Rather, if anything, it *ensures* those reserved rights by exempting only decisions by the electorate from CEQA compliance. As the Appellate Court noted, "Real parties' argument on this point reveals, once again, their failure to appreciate the importance of elections in the initiative process. The results of an election represent the will of the people. A petition signed by 15 percent of the voters does not. Without an election, it simply is not possible to say that the people's will requires the important legislative objectives of CEQA to be set aside so a project can be expedited." Slip Op. at 27-28.

Requiring CEQA compliance deters developers and public officials from enlisting registered voters to propose legislation on controversial land use issues for the purposes of circumventing CEQA all the while upholding the rights of the people to enact legislation via elections. To put a finer point on it, to the extent holding such agency approvals are subject to CEQA will result in more initiatives decided by the electorate than by vote of the agency's legislative body, such result implements rather than hinders Constitutional protections.

Cal. Const., art. 2, § 10(e) instructs "The Legislature shall provide the manner in which petitions shall be circulated, presented, and certified, and measures submitted to the electors." (emphasis added) Real Parties, in their quest to ultimately prevent the Initiative from ever being submitted to

the electors, ignored this key phrase. Rather, upholding the process advocated and applied by Real Parties here would provide public agencies and well-funded developers a vehicle to bypass CEQA and approve land use policies and development projects without ever evaluating the environmental impacts and without ever allowing the electorate to participate in the decision. This is not the intent of CEQA and this is not the intent of the State Constitution's reservation of initiative rights.

Nor is this approach inconsistent with this Court's previous decisions in Associated Home Builders, Inc. v. City of Livermore (1976) 18 Cal.3d 582 and DeVita v. County of Napa (1995) 9 Cal.4th 763. In Associated Home Builders this Court reviewed homebuilders' challenges to a local growth control measure enacted by initiative. In rejecting the homebuilders' claim that the initiative was invalid for failing to follow procedural notice and hearing requirements contained in the State Planning and Zoning Law, this Court emphasized the importance of the Constitutionally reserved rights of initiative and referendum explaining, "[I]t has long been our judicial policy to apply a liberal construction to this power whenever it is challenged in order that the right be not improperly annulled. If doubts can reasonably be resolved in favor of the use of this reserve power, courts will preserve it." Associated Homebuilders, supra, 18 Cal.3d at 591.

In *DeVita* the voters of Napa County enacted Measure J, an initiative that amended the land use element of the county's general plan to preserve agricultural land, rendering the redesignation of existing agricultural land and open space conditional on voter approval, with certain exceptions, for 30 years. This Court rejected *DeVita's* claim that a General Plan could not be amended by initiative explaining, "When the Legislature enacts a statute pertaining to local government, it does so against the background of the electorate's right of local initiative, and the procedures it prescribes for the local governing body are presumed to parallel, rather than prohibit, the initiative process, absent clear indications to the contrary." *DeVita, supra,* 9 Cal.4th at 786

Both cases involved challenges to initiatives enacted by the people via election – rather than an initiative proposed by a voter and enacted by the city council as was the situation in Sonora. And this was a material distinction according to the Appellate Court, which rejected Real Parties' reliance on *DeVita* and *Associated Home Builders*, explaining:

This reasoning is based on the constitutional prerogatives of the electorate. It logically can have no application where, as here, the public agency decides to take the matter out of the electorate's hands. The fundamental policy of the category of exemptions recognized in DeVita is the policy the Supreme Court enunciated in Associated Home Builders: to vindicate "the theory that all power of government ultimately resides in the people" by ensuring that the voter initiative—" one of the most precious rights of our democratic process' "—is not thwarted by legislation. (Associated Home Builders, supra, 18 Cal.3d at p. 591, 135 Cal.Rptr. 41, 557 P.2d 473.) In this case,

the electorate never had the chance to exercise this right, so the reasoning supporting this type of exemption does not apply.

Slip Op. at 14.

Accordingly, Real Parties' arguments regarding alleged harm to initiative rights lacks merit.

C. CEQA Compliance Does Not Nullify Elections Code Section 9214

Real Parties also suggest that the holding in the Appellate Court nullifies Elections Code §9214 and therefore should not be followed. But this argument is without merit for three reasons.

First, not all initiatives are subject to CEQA. Rather, CEQA applies only to "projects proposed to be carried out or approved by public agencies, including, but not limited to, the enactment or amendment of zoning ordinances..." The Initiative, of course, does just that by amending the Sonora Municipal Code to act as the zoning for the area. To be a project, a zoning ordinance amendment must pose the potential to cause a "physical change to the environment." CEQA Guideline 15378(a). Of course, public agencies regularly adopt legislation that does not meet this threshold and therefore is not subject to CEQA. Accordingly, any such legislation proposed by initiative could, in fact, be enacted pursuant to the procedures set forth in Elections Code §9214(a) without triggering CEQA.

Second, this Court has provided an express exemption for citizen initiatives that are placed on the ballot pursuant to §9214(b) and similar initiative statutes. In Friends of Sierra Madre v. City of Sierra Madre (2001) 25 Cal.4th 165, a controversy arose regarding whether certain properties should be removed from the Register of Historic Landmarks. The city council was advised that an EIR would need to be prepared assessing the impact of the delisting. Property owners were reluctant to pay the cost of an EIR. In an effort to avoid CEQA the city decided to put the question to a vote of the electorate by placing an initiative on the ballot pursuant to Elections Code §9222. This section authorizes a city council to place its own initiative on a ballot, that is, an initiative it created on its own, without receiving a petition from voters. The city took the position that if the decision were made by the voters, rather than the city council, the properties could be delisted without CEQA compliance. *Id.* at 174-175. The city relied on Guidelines section 15378, subdivision (b), as it read at the time. Id. at 187-188.) It appeared on its face to exempt all ballot initiatives from CEQA review by stating that the term "project" within the meaning of CEQA does not include "[t]he submittal of proposals to a vote of the people of the state or of a particular community." (Former Guidelines § 15378, subd. (b)(3).)

This Court began its analysis by summarizing the requirements of CEQA and observing that these requirements are triggered by all projects

that are not exempted. (Friends of Sierra Madre, supra, 25 Cal.4th at 184.) It stated that the city's action in placing the initiative on the ballot without improper unless Guidelines environmental review "was prior section 15378, subdivision (b)(3) exempted the ballot measure from CEQA (Id. at p. 187.) Assuming that the California Natural compliance." Resources Agency, which promulgates the Guidelines, intends them to be valid, the court searched for some law that "mandates or permits exclusion of ballot measures initiated by a public agency from CEQA" (Friends of Sierra Madre, supra, at p. 190.)

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